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ABOUT 
VISIT VICTORIA



CHAIRMAN’S 
FOREWORD

The strength of the visitor economy is a major 
contributor to Victoria’s economic growth and 
prosperity.  Consequently, Visit Victoria has developed 
an ambitious programme to increase its contribution 
to the visitor economy targeted to grow strongly over 
the next five years.

The foresight and hard work of successive Victorian 
Governments has developed world’s best practice 
capability, delivering major events and sporting 
activities. Some of the highlights of the last 12 months 
include the Van Gogh and the Seasons exhibition 
at the NGV, the Brazil Argentina Global Tour at the 
MCG and Ballarat White Night.  Whilst Visit Victoria’s 
success to date is very satisfying, we must not lose 
sight of increasing competition both within Australia 
and offshore.  

It’s critical therefore to Visit Victoria’s Board and 
executive that the consolidation of the Victorian Major 
Events Company, Tourism Victoria and the Melbourne 
Convention Bureau further evolves as an even more 
dynamic and engaged organisation to deliver highly 
successful outcomes for the Victorian economy.

We are excited to report that visitation to Victoria is 
at an all-time high, however there is still significant 
potential to further grow and strengthen our visitor 
economy.  In our first year, we have enjoyed the 
benefit of Melbourne again being named the world’s 
most liveable city.  We have also developed bold new 
initiatives with game-changing digital marketing 
campaigns and launched our first interstate 
campaign in six years.  

It is appropriate to acknowledge the exceptional 
contribution of Sir Rod Eddington not only in his 
capacity as interim Chair of Visit Victoria but also 
in successfully leading the Victorian Major Events 
Company for 12 years prior to the integration.

I would also like to thank Visit Victoria’s Board, 
comprising of a diverse group of highly skilled directors 
who have collectively embraced the challenges 
of integrating these three entities into a dynamic 
organisation capable of tackling the many exciting 
opportunities that lie ahead.

Guiding and directing the Visit Victoria Board during 
this key period has been greatly enhanced by the 
hands-on involvement of Premier Daniel Andrews 
and his senior Ministers.  In particular, The Hon John 
Eren MP, Minister for Tourism and Major Events, has 
provided enthusiastic support and been instrumental 
in winning significant events for Victoria in a 
competitive market.

Finally, the Board would like to wish all the staff at Visit 
Victoria and across the industry sector, great ongoing 
success. Your collective contribution has been pivotal 
in achieving and exceeding the ambitious goals we 
have set for Visit Victoria and we look forward to 
continuing this exciting journey with you.

Paul Little AO, Chairman

As Chairman, I am delighted to present the Visit Victoria Annual Report for 2016-17. 
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The merger of Tourism Victoria, the Victorian 
Major Events Company (VMEC), and the 
Melbourne Convention Bureau (MCB) signals the 
Government’s view that tourism and major events 
are critical to the State’s economy. Our aim is to 
become Australia’s number one visitor destination 
and generate $36.5 billion in visitor spend by 2025, 
supporting more than 320,000 jobs.

We are doing so, by improving branding and 
marketing; maximising the benefits of events; 
building on the potential of regional and rural 
Victoria; improving the visitor experience for Asian 
tourists and achieving more effective coordination.

Our vision is clear, Visit Victoria is a leading tourism, 
business and major events company that works 
in partnership with the tourism industry to market 
our extraordinary range of inspiring experiences 
maximising yield from intrastate, interstate and 
international visitors.

A priority for Visit Victoria in year one was to develop 
consumer insights that would inform and optimise 
our strategic approach in the years to come.

Research underscored our business strategy and 
has resulted in successful event bids, effective 
storytelling, and high-impact media partnerships. 
An innovative digital roadmap has been created 
that will underpin all marketing.

Our first intrastate campaign, Wander Victoria 
delivered 24.4 million views of the brand 
films, 260,000 visits to the campaign website 
wandervictoria.com. 

In addition to strengthening our partnerships with 
Victoria’s favourite flagship events in the past 12 
months we have secured and held new world-class 
events such as Nitro Athletics, Van Gogh and the 
Seasons, Chevrolet Brasil Global Tour and Kinky 
Boots, to name a few. We’ve also been developing 
home-grown events - White Night Melbourne, 
Ballarat and the Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road 
Race - all of which surpassed attendance targets 
this year. 

Our arts and cultural events are a major lure for 
visitors. Melbourne’s glorious gothic theatre venues, 
live music scene, comedy and film festivals, art 
shows and fashion extravaganzas and regional 
showcases are attracting record-breaking crowds.

Working in partnership with the Regional Tourism 
Boards, we’ve been creating new regional events 
that deliver experiences on par with the best in 
the world. This has been supported by the new 
Regional Events Fund.

In partnership with MCB, we are working to extend 
visitation and yield from convention delegates, as 
MCB continues to deliver economic, delegate and 
room night metrics that exceed all targets.

Our staff have worked tirelessly to bring three 
highly specialised organisations into one unified 
business with a new operating model built on our 
core values of bravery, accountability and respect.
It has been the willingness, professionalism, and 
positive attitude of everyone at Visit Victoria that 
has created such a dynamic organisation, well 
placed to maximise every future opportunity to 
strengthen the visitor economy.

Peter Bingeman, Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S
MESSAGE

A year ago, the Victorian Government created Visit Victoria – an agile and modern 
tourism and events organisation to spearhead a cohesive new approach, revitalising 
the visitor economy.
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ABOUT 
VISIT VICTORIA

Vision
Visit Victoria is the State’s primary tourism, 
business and major events company that leads 
the tourism, business and major events sector 
in curating and demonstrating the depth and 
diversity of Victoria’s inspiring experiences to 
maximise yield from intrastate, interstate and 
international visitation.

Our Values
Our vision is supported by a code of behaviours 
and values that underpin the way we approach 
our work:

Purpose and Function
Visit Victoria leads the Victorian tourism, business 
and major events sector to revitalise the visitor 
economy to generate $36.5 billion in visitor 
spending by 2025 and support more than  
320,700 jobs. 

Visit Victoria’s prime objective is to build Victoria 
into Australia’s number one tourism destination 
by delivering strong and sustainable growth 
across the sector. 

We will do this by:

• Improving branding and marketing;
• Maximising the benefits of events;
• Building on the potential of regional and  

rural Victoria;
• Improving visitor experiences with a focus on 

Asia; and
• Enabling effective coordination of the sector.

This purpose aligns with the outcomes detailed in 
the Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy.

Visit Victoria operates in a collaborative and agile 
environment that informs, connects and partners 
with industry and the Victorian State Government 
to amplify Victoria’s brand. 

Visit Victoria collaborates across the sector 
on creative innovation in a fast moving and 
technologically driven industry, exploiting 
research insights to deliver individualised 
experiences.

Our partners in industry and the Victorian 
Government are supported by Visit Victoria’s 
organisational units.

WE ARE 
BRAVE

WE ARE 
RESULTS DRIVEN

PROMISES MADE, 
PROMISES KEPT

WE WIN 
AS ONE

WE ARE 
AUTHENTIC
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ABOUT 
VISIT VICTORIA

People

Visit Victoria is committed to providing an 
employment experience that embraces diversity in 
every sense, honours flexible working practices, keeps 
its people safe, provides support and opportunities for 
growth and development. It recognises and rewards 
people both for what they achieve and how they 
achieve it.

Transformation Strategy

In 2016-17 Visit Victoria embarked on a transformation 
process to create a unified agile and collaborative 
structure. Aside from the expectations of government, 
Visit Victoria was asked to define its future strategy for 
growing the Visitor Economy. The proposed structural 
changes were intended to bring to life Visit Victoria’s 
core objectives and strategic thinking, starting with:

• Cultural Improvement;

• Simplification/reduction of duplication; 

• Functional operation of a standalone entity;

• A demand driven focus;

• A focus on industry and game changing 
infrastructure; and

• Preparing for the future.

The organisation worked towards a cohesive, new 
approach to marketing Melbourne and Victoria to 
attract more visitors and world-class events to the 
State and consolidate Melbourne and Victoria’s 
position as a leading global tourism and   
events destination.

MCB, a subsidiary of Visit Victoria, was not part of the 
change process, Corporate Services functions were 
transferred and merged into the centralised shared 
services for Visit Victoria.

Developing Visit Victoria’s Leaders

Capable leadership is at the core of cultural 
transformation. In the past year the Leadership Team 
took part in a leadership development program 
that involved an offsite strategy planning and team 
development session. The program was designed 
to measure Visit Victoria’s critical capabilities and 
develop a clear strategic intent. The session led to an 
improved understanding of our core business drivers 
and customer engagement strategies.

The goals and objectives that where developed will 
be used to drive targeted development, succession 
planning and resourcing decisions to achieve our 
strategies and objectives. 

Human Resources: Inspiring experiences in a performance driven values 
led workplace that enables professional growth, informed meaningful 
contribution, and celebrates success.
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ABOUT 
VISIT VICTORIA
Employee Support

Visit Victoria’s workforce strategy includes 
comprehensive induction programs covering 
operations, policies, and compliance obligations 
(including OH&S). Also covered are employment 
matters such as our workplace, culture, performance 
expectations and requirements relating to Visit 
Victoria’s values and code of conduct. Visit Victoria’s 
workforce strategy will provide staff with the means 
to achieve a work-life balance and outlines our 
commitment to providing a work environment that has 
embedded inclusive practices and embraces diversity. 

Visit Victoria is committed to ensuring the workplace 
is free of discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
bullying. As part of the structural transition Visit Victoria 
is reviewing OHS and wellbeing programs, this will 
include training and development of contract officers 
and first aid officers.

Visit Victoria has received no formal reports  of 
discrimination. 

People Plan

The people plan for Visit Victoria is based on four 
elements to deliver a performance based values  
lead culture. 

For Visit Victoria leadership is not a job title, we all 
display leadership in one way or another; we have 
high expectations of our people leaders and team 
members in Visit Victoria to focus performance on our 
strategic goals and to deliver on our commitments to all 
stakeholders and the Victorian community.

To be a performance driven, values led organisation we 
have implemented and continually reinforce our values 
and all team members have a workplan in place with 
individual and team goals.

Capability is very important for efficiency, 
accountability and delivery, we attract great capability, 
and we develop great capability. Career and talent 
development is an important focus area for 2017-18 as 
we continue to bed down the new structure.

Underpinned by our values, our culture is very 
important towards developing a commercially agile 
organisation where people feel enabled and motivated 
to achieve great outcomes.

Leadership

Performance

Capability

Culture

People
Plan
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Workforce Data

DATE EMPLOYEE HEAD COUNT INTERNATIONAL FIXED 
TERM AND CASUAL 

EMPLOYEES

TOTAL 
EMPLOYEES

Full time
(headcount)

Part time
(headcount)

Total
(headcount)

Total
(FTE)

Total
(FTE)

Total
(FTE)

June 2017 87 10 97 93.5 25.2 118.7

CLASSIFICATION

Male
Variation 

from previous 
year

Female
Variation 

from previous 
year

Current       
Vacancies

Variation 
from previous 

year

GSERP 4 0 2 0 1 0

Non GSERP 1 0 0 0 1 0

DATE GENDER TOTAL 
EMPLOYEES

Ongoing Employees Fixed Term and Casual Employees
Total
(FTE)

Headcount FTE FTE June 2017

Male 20 20.0 6.0 26.0

Female 77 73.5 19.2 92.7

Ongoing Employees

Gender

Leadership Team

ABOUT 
VISIT VICTORIA

Year ending June 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017VISIT VICTORIA 11



INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS



Visit Victoria Limited was established 1 July 2016 as 
a company limited by guarantee with the Premier 
of Victoria as the sole shareholder. The Minister for 
Tourism and Major Events has portfolio responsibility 
for the Company. 

With the union of Tourism Victoria, MCB and VMEC, 
Visit Victoria has a consolidated approach to driving 
visitor economy performance and is an important 
part of the Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy. 

The Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy outlines the 
Government’s objectives and priorities to grow and 
support the visitor economy.  It provides the blueprint 
for Government and industry to work in partnership 
to grow visitor expenditure in the State to $36.5 
billion by 2025, with corresponding increases in visitor 
economy jobs.

The visitor economy encompasses leisure tourism, 
business events, major events, international 
education and visiting friends and relatives.

The Government’s priorities for Visit Victoria are 
broadly outlined below:

• Developing and implementing its own plans to 
increase visitor numbers, yield, regional dispersal 
and visitor satisfaction, with reference to the 
Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy and its 
overall remit, working with industry to deliver on 
these plans;

• Maintaining close engagement with the Regional 
Tourism Boards, elevate the promotion of 
regional Victoria and expand the calendar of 
regional events;

• Working closely with all relevant parts of 
the Department of Economic Development, 
Jobs, Transport and Resources to advise the 
Government on the procurement of events and the 
relativities of the investment across event types;

• Amplifying Brand Victoria and Brand Melbourne;

• Maintaining an optimal international presence, 
working closely with the Victorian Government 
Business Offices and former Tourism Victoria 
offices and agencies;

• Focusing on the visiting friends and family 
market, exploring opportunities to work with 
Victoria’s multicultural communities;

• Working closely with the international education 
sector to promote Victoria as a great place to 
study; and

• Collaborating with relevant Government 
Departments and agencies such as Parks 
Victoria, Creative Victoria and Sport and 
Recreation Victoria.

Year in Review

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Performance  Indicator Unit of   
Measure

Quantity, 
Quality, 

Timeliness

2016-17
Target

Performance
Variation %

2016-17
Actual to 

June

1. Links from Tourism Victoria 
consumer sites

number 
(million)

Quantity 1.85 -35% 1.20

2. Major sporting and cultural events 
facilitated number Quantity > 12 133% 28

3. Number of domestic overnight 
visitors

number 
(million)

Quantity 21.8 6% 23.2

4. Number of visitors (international) number 
(million)

Quantity 2.5 11% 2.8

5. Visitor expenditure: domestic
$ billion Quantity 17.0 4% 17.7

6. Visitor expenditure: international
$ billion Quantity 6.5 14% 7.5

7. Visitor expenditure: regional 
Victoria (domestic) $ billion Quantity 8.1 5% 8.5

8. Visitor expenditure: regional 
Victoria (international) $ million Quantity 450 18% 540

9. Visitors to Tourism Victoria 
consumer websites

number 
(million)

Quantity 9.4 -6% 8.8

10. Value of media coverage 
generated: domestic $ million Quantity 20 13% 22.7

11. Value of media coverage 
generated: international $ million Quantity 40 28% 53.0

12. Completion of post-event 
reports and economic impact 
assessments of each event 
(where required) within agreed 
timeframes

per cent Timeliness 100 0% 100

Output Targets 
and Performance

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

Data source: National and International Visitor Surveys, Tourism Research Australia, year ending June 2017.
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Table Commentary

1. The target of 1.85 million links was not achieved. 
The drop is due to a range of issues, including a 
shift towards businesses advertising on social 
media platforms. 

2. Of particular note, the Major Event performance 
measure (number of major sporting and cultural 
events facilitated) has surpassed the 2016-17 
target by 133% and for the 2017-18 financial year, 
this target has been increased. We will monitor 
performance against this new target as this 
may need to be further increased again. 

The number of events facilitated was higher than 
expected due to a range of factors, including 
facilitating a number of one-off events. The 
2017-18 target has increased to 18 major sporting 
and cultural events facilitated which reflects 
a continued focus on facilitating major events 
arising from increased funding.

3. Target met. Latest result for year ending June 
2017. Target for 2017-18 has been increased to  
22.6 million.

4. Target exceeded. Latest result for year ending 
June 2017. Target for 2017-18 has been increased 
to 2.9 million.

5. Target met. Latest result for year ending June 
2017. Target for 2017-18 has been increased to  
$17.7 billion.

6. Target exceeded. Latest result for year ending 
June 2017. Annual growth in international visitor 
expenditure in Victoria was stronger than 
expected, driven by strong performances from 
key markets such as China (+16.1 per cent to $2.6 
billion) and the education segment (+21.6 per 
cent to $3.2 billion). Target for 2017-18 has been 
increased to $7.8 billion.

7. Target met. Latest result for year ending June 
2017. Target for 2017-18 has been increased to  
$8.3 billion.

8. Target exceeded. Latest result for year ending 
June 2017. Annual growth in international visitor 
expenditure in Regional Victoria was stronger 
than expected (+23%). Target for 2017-18 has been 
increased to $500 million. Note results for this 
measure are highly variable.

9. The target for visitors to Visit Victoria consumer 
websites has not been met. Lower than expected 
visitation to the consumer website can be partly 
explained by the continuing consumer shift 
to social media as a form of information and 
destination planning.

10. Annual target exceeded due to coverage from 
broadcast projects and significant programs 
including The World’s 50 Best Restaurant awards 
during Q4. 

11. Annual target exceeded due to coverage from 
significant public relations projects including 
Malaysia’s Make Your Mark street art exchange 
and The World’s 50 Best Restaurant awards 
during Q4. 

Output Targets 
and Performance 

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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The Visit Victoria 2016-17 Annual Report reflects 
the important achievements of the company in 
supporting the Victorian tourism, business and 
major events sector to revitalise the visitor economy, 
generate $36.5 billion in visitor spending by 2025, and 
support more than 320,700 jobs. 

We have put our stakeholders, industry and 
government, at the centre in our first year of 
unification, to meet the challenges of sector reform. 

The past year has brought consolidation, coordinated 
and cooperative marketing of Melbourne and 
regional Victoria and strengthened partnerships with 
industry. This has increased our ability to deliver a 
consistent, coherent, and compelling message about 
Victoria as a destination of choice in both leisure and 
non-leisure markets.

VICTORIA

In the year ending June 2017

• Travellers to and within Victoria spent a total 
of $25.2 billion (comprising of domestic daytrip, 
domestic overnight and international overnight 
expenditure). This equates to market share of 
22.9 per cent of total tourism expenditure in 
Australia. Compared to last year (year ending 
June 2016), expenditure increased 10.5 per cent 
above the national average growth of 6.7 per 
cent. Over the last five years (year ending June 
2012-17), total expenditure in Victoria has grown 
on average 6.2 per cent per annum, just above 
national performance (+5.2 per cent per annum). 
Current year on year and five year average 
annual growth rates are above what is needed 
to achieve the Victorian Visit Economy target of 
$36.5 billion by 2024-25 (+5.3 per cent per annum 
over the life of the strategy).  

• Victoria’s total overnight expenditure (excluding 
daytrips) of $20.4 billion grew by 11.4 per cent 
compared to last year, above the national 
average of +7.6 per cent. Over the last five years, 
total overnight expenditure in Victoria has grown 
on average by 7.5 per cent per annum, ahead of 
the national average of +5.9 per cent per annum. 

• Domestic overnight expenditure in Victoria of 
$12.9 billion grew by 11.4 per cent compared to last 
year, at a rate higher than the national average 
(+6.6 per cent). Over the last five years, domestic 
overnight expenditure in Victoria has grown on 
average by 5.2 per cent per annum, slightly above 
the national average of +4.7 per cent per annum.  

• International overnight expenditure in Victoria 
grew by 11.5 per cent to $7.5 billion, above the 
national average growth (+9.8 per cent). Over 
the last five years (year ending June 2012-17), 
international overnight expenditure in Victoria 
has grown by 12.2 per cent per annum, ahead of 
the national average of 9.0 per cent per annum. 

State Performance

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Melbourne

In the year ending June 2017

• Travellers to and within Melbourne spent a 
total of $16.2 billion (comprising of domestric 
daytrip, domestic overnight and international 
overnight expenditure). Relative to the previous 
year, Melbourne saw a 10.0 per cent increase, 
above the national city average of +7.8 per 
cent. Over the last five years, total expenditure 
in Melbourne has grown by 7.4 per cent per 
annum, above the national city average of 5.9 
per cent per annum. 

• Domestic overnight expenditure in Melbourne 
was $7.4 billion, growing by 12.5 per cent year 
on year, ahead of the national city average 
(+8.6 per cent). Relative to the previous year, 
the in desination intrastate overnight market 
grew by 13.4 per cent to $1.0 billion, with the in 
destination interstate overnight market growing 
15.6 per cent to $4.3 billion. Over the last five 
years, interstate overnight expenditure has 
grown 6.7% per cent per annum, ahead of the 
national capital city average of +5.1 per cent per 
annum and intrastate overnight expenditure 
has grown 4.6 per cent per annum, in line with 
the national capital city average of 4.4 per cent 
per annum.  

• International overnight expenditure in 
Melbourne was $7.0 billion, growing by 10.7 per 
cent year on year. International visitors also 
grew, at a rate of 7.3 per cent, to 2.6 million, 
with nights growing 14.1 per cent to 59.2 million. 
Growth in spend and nights was ahead of the 
national capital city average but below for 
visitors. Over the last five years, international 
overnight expenditure in Melbourne has grown 
12.5 per cent per annum, ahead of the national 
city average of 9.8 per cent per annum. 

Regional

In the year ending June 2017

• Travellers to and within regional Victoria spent 
a total of $9.0 billion (comprising of domestic 
daytrip, domestic overnight and international 
overnight expenditure). Relative to the previous 
year, regional Victorian experienced growth 
of 11.5 per cent, above the national regional 
average of 5.4 per cent. Over the past five years, 
total expenditure in regional Victoria has grown 
by 4.3 per cent per annum, in line with the 
national regional average of 4.5 per cent  
per annum. 

• Domestic overnight expenditure in regional 
Victoria grew by 10.0 per cent to $5.5 billion, 
well above the national regional average of 
4.8 per cent. Expenditure increased from the 
in destination intrastate (+12.5 per cent to $4.0 
billion) and in destination interstate (+6.4 per 
cent to $1.2 billion) overnight markets. Across the 
past five years, expenditure grew by 6.1 per cent 
per annum for intrastate and 4.6 per cent per 
annum for interstate overnight markets.  

• Regional Victoria experienced year-on-year 
growth in international overnight expenditure of 
23.0 per cent, to $540 million, above the national 
regional average increase of 8.6 per cent. Over 
the last five years, international overnight 
expenditure in regional Victoria has grown on 
average by 8.1 per cent, just above the national 
regional average increase of 6.9 per cent  
per annum. 

Note: Revision of National Visitor Survey   
(domestic) data by Tourism Research   
Australia is reflected in these results.

State Performance

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Visit Victoria was formed to shift the needle on 
the economic contribution of visitors to the State, 
representing a major change in how Victoria goes 
about the business of tourism and major events.

Critical to the success of this plan was Visit Victoria’s 
transformation to a single, unified organisation dedicated 
to growing Victoria’s $23.3 billion visitor economy. 

Visit Victoria has a fresh direction under the 
leadership of CEO Peter Bingeman and Chair Paul 
Little AO.

In its first year Visit Victoria has brought consolidation, 
coordinated and cooperative marketing of Melbourne 
and regional Victoria and strengthened partnerships 
with industry. This has increased our ability to deliver a 
consistent, coherent, and compelling message about 
Victoria as a destination of choice in both leisure and 
non-leisure markets.

Our promise is a service charter that prioritised 
stakeholders in our first year of unification so that 
we could meet the challenges of sector reform in a 
consultative manner. The value proposition within 
our promise explains what industry, government, our 
people and visitors can expect from us.

• Improving visitor expenditure and revitalising the 
interstate visitor activity to return this segment 
to its required growth rate.

• Achieving greater alignment and vertical 
integration with Government’s identified  
future industries.

• Improving the return on investment from major 
events through analysis of their economic impact.

• Enhancing partnership marketing activities.

• Providing leadership in marketing the   
visitor economy. 

Our Milestones

• Unified three organisations and consolidated 
internal financial and IT systems.

• Established an office in the Docklands and 
opened Visit Victoria’s third China office in Beijing.

• Developed an organisational structure and 
operating model with a single set of values.

• Secured a leadership team, Board and Audit and 
Risk Committee.

• Victoria welcomed 2.8 million international 
visitors who spent $7.5 billion in the 12 months to 
June 2017, with some of the strongest growth in 
visitors occurring in regional areas.

• Attracted new major events including The House 
of Dior exhibition and Nitro Athletics, as well as 
international business events, such as the World 
Congress on Public Health.

• Held the first regional White Night event in 
Ballarat and delivered the first UCI WorldTour 
one day cycling race for Victoria.

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

UNIFIED ORGANISATION GLOBAL OFFICE LOCATIONS INTERNATIONAL VISITOR SPEND

Office of the CEO
Inform, connect and collaborate with internal and external stakeholders to deliver on 
visitor economy targets.  

10 $7.5B3 into 1
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MCB secured 194 international and national business 
events for Victoria, surpassing targets by 17 per cent, 
with a forecast economic impact of more than $321 
million and 66,866 delegates to visit the State.

MCB focused its strategy on winning business that 
delivers benefit to the State, stakeholders and 
partners, while building a respected and innovative 
business events brand for Victoria.

International Association Success

MCB secured 36 international and national 
association events, worth $226 million in economic 
contribution and expected to attract 38,995 
delegates to the State. 

Highlights of events secured

• Lions Clubs International Convention 2024 
(LCICon): featuring a Parade of Nations which will 
activate the city centre, the LCICon is expected 
to attract over 13,000 delegates and deliver over 
$84.4 million in economic contribution. 

• Spine Week 2020: international medical 
association meeting worth over $14.7 million to 
the economy and will attract approximately  
2,250 delegates. 

• 17th World Congress on Menopause 2020: the 
largest gathering worldwide for specialists 
in the field of research and management of 
menopause is expected to attract over 2,000 
delegates and is worth $11.8 million in   
economic contribution. 

• Congress of the International Fiscal Association 
2024 (IFA): international business meeting that 
will deliver $9.7 million in economic contribution 
and approximately 1,500 delegates. 

• Thematic Conference of the World Psychiatric 
2018 (WPA): focussing on making psychiatry 
relevant and effective for people with mental 
illness, the topical event will deliver over $8.9 
million in economic contribution and over  
1,500 delegates. 

Highlights of events held

• Twenty-nine international association meetings 
were held in the 2016-17 financial year delivering 
$133.8 million in economic contribution and 
bringing 27,145 delegates to the State. 

• International Congress of Immunology: the 
largest global event in the field of immunology 
attracted 4,000 delegates and delivered $30.4 
million in economic contribution. 

• World Congress on Public Health: attracted 2,500 
delegates from 70 countries, delivering $11.2 
million in economic contribution. 

• International Biotechnology Symposium: held 
as part of AusBiotech’s International Biotests, 
Australia’s largest ever gathering of life sciences.  
The Symposium attracted almost 1,400 
participants and generated an estimated $6.8 
million in economic contribution.  

194 $321M67K
EVENTS WON ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTIONDELEGATES

Melbourne Convention Bureau (MCB)
Secure and amplify the world’s best business events calendar to position Victoria as 
the first-choice destination for Business Events.

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Incentive and Corporate Meetings Success

MCB secured 158 events across incentives and 
corporate meetings, worth $95.5 million in economic 
contribution and expected to attract 27,911 delegates. 

Highlights of events secured

• World Taiwanese Chamber of Commerce 2017, 
$4.4 million in economic contribution and 600 
delegates from Taiwan. 

• Fubon Life Insurance Taiwan 2016, $3.7 million in 
economic contribution and 1,000 delegates  
from Taiwan.

• Great Eastern Premier Tier Incentive Malaysia 
2017, $1.4 million in economic contribution and 
400 delegates from Malaysia. 

• Indonesia Stock Exchange Incentive, just under 
$1 million in economic contribution and 250 
delegates from Indonesia. 

Highlights of events held

• Perfect China Incentive Trip, the largest  
Chinese incentive group into Victoria  since 
2008, 2,900 delegates visited Melbourne and 
regional Victoria, delivering $19.5 million in 
economic impact. 

• Dancing in Australia Programme in April 2017 
attracted 800 delegates who danced their 
way through Melbourne and regional Victoria 
activating public spaces and communities. 
The event delivered $3 million in economic 
contribution. 

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Major Events 
Create and amplify the best major and regional events calendar to ensure Victoria 
remains the undisputed events capital of the world.

28 10300K
MAJOR EVENTS FUNDED NEW MAJOR EVENTS FORECAST VISITORS

Visit Victoria funded 28 major events in 2016-17, 
attracted 10 new major events and renegotiated the 
continuation of three drawcard events.

Victoria’s enviable major, regional and business 
events calendar delivers the ‘best of the best’, and 
enhances Melbourne and Victoria’s standing as the 
‘Event Capital of Australia’. 

In 2016-17 Visit Victoria undertook a review of the 
existing major events strategy. Major events, where 
appropriate, were linked to large scale business 
events and meetings to ensure year round event 
activity and alignment with the Victorian Visitor 
Economy Strategy.

Visit Victoria delivered major events including White 
Night Melbourne and the first regional White Night in 
Ballarat, the Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road Race, 
Van Gogh and the Seasons at the NGV, Chevrolet 
Brasil Global Tour and the Australian premiere of 
Kinky Boots. 

Melbourne and Victoria attracted the world’s best 
athletes, including Roger Federer, Rafael Nadal, 
Serena and Venus Williams (tennis) Chris Froome 
(cycling) Usain Bolt (athletics) Lewis Hamilton (F1TM) 
Lionel Messi and Philippe Coutinho (football) Aly 
Raisman (gymnastics) Kelly Slater (surfing) and Patty 
Mills (basketball).

Creative and Performing Arts Acquisition

Highlights of events secured

• The exclusive Australian premiere of the Pop-Up 
Globe, the world’s first full-scale working replica 
of The Globe Theatre, providing a special visitor 
experience, local construction jobs and further 
jobs within theatrical production.

• Secured the world premiere of The House of Dior 
– Seventy Years of Haute Couture at the NGV. 
Estimated to attract over 10,000 interstate and 
international visitors.

Highlights of events held

• Engaged with NGV to feature a world-exclusive 
exhibition of Van Gogh and the Seasons as 
part of the Melbourne Winter Masterpieces 
2017 programming. Total attendance reached 
462,262 in 76 days making it the most popular art 
exhibition ever presented in Victoria.

• Launched Wallace & Gromit and Friends: The 
Magic of Aardman at the Australian Centre 
for the Moving Image (ACMI). The exhibition 
celebrated one of the world’s most successful 
animation studios of all time.

• Presented the award-winning musical, Kinky 
Boots, in its Australian premiere in Melbourne.

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Highlights of events secured

• Contracted with Athletics Australia to host the 
world’s first team based athletics competition - 
Nitro Athletics, featuring Usain Bolt.  

• The Chevrolet Brasil Global Tour featuring football 
giants Brazil and Argentina, followed by a match 
between Australia’s own Socceroos v Brazil.

• Australia’s important 2018 FIFA World Cup Qualifier 
against Thailand at AAMI Park.

• Negotiated a four-year agreement to host 
gymnastics FIG Individual Apparatus World Cup 
Series from 2017-20, inclusive of qualification 
opportunities for the Tokyo 2020 Olympic Games. 

• Added Melbourne to the 2017-18 Volvo Ocean 
Race route. The race returns to Australia for the 
first time in ten years, with a race village in the 
Docklands over Christmas and New Year. 

• Successfully re-negotiated the continuation of 
the  longest running surfing event in the world 
the Rip Curl Pro.

Highlights of events held

• Collaborated with sport marketing giants 
TLA and TEG to deliver a sell-out Chevrolet 
Brasil Global Tour – Brazil vs Argentina at 
the Melbourne Cricket Ground attended by 
95,569 spectators and a crowd of 40,000 at the 
Socceroos vs Brazil game. 

• Highlighted Victoria’s credentials in hosting elite 
female sport events including the Fast5 Netball 
World Series, the FIG Individual Apparatus 
World Cup and the live and in full broadcast on 
Channel 7’s main channel for the Cadel Evans 
Great Ocean Road Race – Deakin University 
Elite Women’s Race. 

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

Sports Acquisition
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Regional Events 

The Regional Events Fund supported 39 events, 
including the T20 Cricket double header featuring 
Australia v Sri Lanka in Geelong, the Chillout Festival 
and Lost Trades Fair in Daylesford and DreamWorks 
Lights on the Mornington Peninsula. 

The funding framework and process was reviewed 
in consultation with Regional Tourism Boards, to 
attract and retain strong events that drive visitation 
to Regional Victoria.

Highlights of significant events secured

• The Targa Florio Tribute to Australia: for the 
first time in history the classic car rally will tour 
outside of Italy, calling Victoria home for a four-
day event that takes in some of the State’s most 
breathtaking scenery. 

• A four-year arrangement to feature Western 
Bulldogs AFL matches at Mars Stadium  
in Ballarat.

• A successful bid to host the World Junior Table 
Tennis Championships in Bendigo in 2019 and 
the Melbourne Victory v Central Coast Mariners 
football fixture for Geelong.

• Extended funding for the successful Chillout 
Festival in Daylesford over two years, the 
long-running Cycling Australia Road National 
Championships for a further three years 
in Ballarat; the Riverboats Music Festival 
in Echuca, the Walhalla Vinter Ljusfest in 
Gippsland and a multi-year delivery of the Great 
Ocean Road Running Festival.

Event Management 

• The Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road Race 
secured UCI WorldTour classification for the 
Elite Men’s race in only its third year, achieved 
domestic and international broadcast across 
both men’s and women’s elite races and broke 
previous spectator attendance levels.

• Delivered the first Race Melbourne sprint cycling 
event on Australia Day aligned with Parks 
Victoria’s healthy parks, healthy people campaign.

• Broke attendance records at White Night 
Melbourne with an estimated 600,000 visitors in 
its fifth year. 

• Curated the inaugural White Night Ballarat, a 
free event that attracted an estimated 40,000 
visitors over 12 hours.

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Digital Marketing Services and Strategy
Develop best practice digital marketing services that inspire, inform and convert 
travellers at all stages of the visitor journey.

8.8M $75M2.2M+
VISITORS TO CONSUMER WEBSITES VALUE GLOBALLYSOCIAL FOLLOWERS

Visit Victoria develops digital marketing and content 
strategies to inspire, inform and convert travellers at 
all stages of their journey and develop key products 
in-line with strategic brand frameworks.

Familiarisation visits, Communications and  Media 
Highlights

Targeted public relations to trade and media 
representatives is one of the most effective ways  
of promoting Victoria’s rich and diverse range  
of experiences.

Visit Victoria facilitated 112 trade familiarisation visits 
with 643 delegates.

A record 196 domestic and 484 international media 
visitors from top tier domestic and international media 
resulted in significant destination coverage across 
broadcast, print and online media worth $75 million 
globally in advertising value. 

The communications and familiarisation team 
managed 97 individual trade and media visits as part 
of the World’s 50 Best Restaurants awards. 

Product Development Highlights

Visit Victoria advised more than 500 Victorian tourism 
businesses on marketing and product distribution. Visit 
Victoria’s International Mentoring Program provides 
insights and strategic advice to businesses seeking 
to enter the international markets. Fifteen businesses 
entered the international market through the program. 

Website Highlights

Visit Victoria maintains the official travel and tourism 
website for Melbourne and Victoria. Translated into 
eight languages, the sites provide timely inspirational 

and practical information on Victoria’s visitor 
experiences.

Visit Victoria’s consumer websites, visitvictoria.com 
and visitmelbourne.com attracted 8.8 million visitors. 
An increased number of consumers used their mobiles 
to access the website.

Social Media Highlights

In 2016-17, Visit Victoria’s social media channels grew 
significantly. Over 2.2 million consumers worldwide 
follow Visit Victoria on Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, 
Sina Weibo and WeChat in China.      

Instagram performed strongly, with domestic and 
international influencers supporting our campaign 
work and content.

Marketing Services Highlights

An online platform for media and industry partners, 
mediahub.visitvictoria.com, combined visionsofvictoria.
com image library with the piecesofvictoria.com  
media portal. 

The site provides a visually compelling and improved 
functional experience for users looking for destination 
stories, content ideas and multi-media assets with the 
latest technology. 

The content and media hub is the first phase in 
Visit Victoria’s review of content development and 
distribution processes. 

Other areas of focus have been the acquisition of a 
data management program which, when successfully 
embedded, will enable Visit Victoria to more effectively 
target and communicate with its customers. 

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Consumer Markets (International Marketing) 
Build awareness of a unique value proposition for Melbourne and its surrounds and attributes 
to become the undisputed number one city for international travellers in priority markets.

2.8M 67.4M $7.5B
INTERNATIONAL VISITORS VISITOR SPENDNIGHTS IN VICTORIA

Visit Victoria has optimised Victoria’s assets to lure 
increasing numbers of high-spending visitors from 
priority target markets.

Our target markets include Greater China, the 
United States of America, Singapore, Malaysia and 
Japan, and we have maintained activity in New 
Zealand, the United Kingdom, Germany and India. 

In the year ending June 2017, Victoria welcomed 
2.8 million international visitors, an increase of 7.7 
per cent on the previous year. These visitors spent 
$7.5 billion, an increase of 11.5 per cent, and stayed 
67.4 million nights in Victoria – staying with us a 
remarkable 25.3 per cent of the total international 
visitor nights spent in all of Australia. 

Partnership Marketing

Visit Victoria collaborated with Tourism Australia, 
airlines and distributors on campaigns to increase 
awareness of, and visitation to, Melbourne and   
regional Victoria. 

Highlights

• Development of regional Victoria travel 
itineraries for Chinese travellers, in partnership 
with airlines including China Southern, China 
Eastern, Beijing Capital Airlines and distribution 
partners.

• Worked with Virgin Australia to promote its Los 
Angeles to Melbourne flight services in the USA 
during December 2016.

• The tactical partner chosen for the campaign 
was online travel company Travel Zoo, who 
packaged and promoted Victorian itineraries to 
their USA database of over 4.25 million people. 

• We worked with Qantas, Tourism Australia and 
our Japanese trade partner, HIS, to promote 
Qantas’ new direct Japan flights to Melbourne. 
The campaign included print, digital and out 
of home advertising in metropolitan subway 
stations from March 2017 to June 2017.

• Visit Victoria partnered with Singapore Airlines 
in delivering a culinary campaign featuring 
Victoria’s food and wine experiences - with a 
focus on the Melbourne Food and Wine Festival 
and World’s 50 Best Restaurant Awards. An 
extensive digital marketing and communication 
campaign was implemented in February 2017. 

• In the United Kingdom, Visit Victoria partnered 
with Tourism Australia, Qantas and Trailfinders 
to launch a consumer promotion including a 
media partnership with The Telegraph Media 
Group. Early reports from Trailfinders indicate a 
15 per cent increase in sales for Victoria after  
the campaign. 

INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS
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INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

Trade Marketing

Victorian businesses gained direct benefit from 
trade events, meeting with international tourism 
operators and buyers. Tourism Australia partnered 
with Visit Victoria on international events.

Highlights

• March 2017 – Visit Victoria organised a sales 
mission to Qingdao, Beijing and Taipei. 21 Victorian 
businesses attended business to business 
meetings, training seminars, an Online Travel Agent 
forum in Beijing, and a media event in Taipei.

• February 2017 – Seven Victorian tourism 
businesses attended Walkabout Japan to 
meet decision makers in the Japanese travel 
industry. The Victorians travelled to Korea with 
Visit Victoria to hold one-on-one meetings with 
Korean based decision makers.

• February 2017 –  Five Victorian tourism 
businesses attended the annual Australia 
Market Place Travel Event in Pasadena, USA. 
This three-day workshop provided suppliers 
with the opportunity to meet major distribution 
partners and specialists in Australian travel. 
After this event, 12 Victorian operators visited 
Los Angeles, San Jose, Seattle and San Antonio 
on a Victorian tourism roadshow.

• September 2016 – Seven delegates undertook 
the UK/Europe Sales Mission to Germany and 
the United Kingdom. Delegates met managers 
across both markets and over 300 agents were 
given information about Melbourne and Victoria 
to enable them to sell products and travel. 

• August 2016 – 18 Victorian operators 
participated in Tourism Australia’s India Travel 
Mission in Chennai. The Victorian contingent 
met with 89 qualified travel agencies and tour 
operators. Visit Victoria and Tourism and Events 
Queensland held a roadshow in Mumbai and 
Delhi. The roadshow showcased Victorian and 
Queensland operators to 200 travel agents.

Aviation Developments

The international marketing team collaborated 
with Invest Victoria in formalising agreements with 
carriers to increase the Victorian visitor economy 
and facilitate export and trade opportunities.  

In the past financial year, six airlines began new 
services to Melbourne from three of our priority 
markets, China, Japan and the USA. 

• China Southern – Two weekly services between 
Shenzhen-Melbourne in June 2017. 

• Virgin Australia – Launched Los Angeles- 
Melbourne direct daily services in April 2017.

• Qantas – Launched direct daily services 
between Tokyo (Narita) and Melbourne in 
December 2016.

• Hainan Airlines – Launched two new routes 
Changsha-Melbourne and Xian-Melbourne, 
each operating two services per week in  
November 2016.

• Beijing Capital Airlines – Three weekly services 
between Shenyang-Qingdao-Melbourne in  
September 2016.

• Xiamen Airlines – Two weekly services  between 
Xiamen-Melbourne in July 2016.
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INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

World’s 50 Best Restaurant Awards

Melbourne hosted the ‘culinary Oscars’ in April 2017 
when The World’s 50 Best Restaurants awards were 
held at the Royal Exhibition Building and other 
venues around the city.

Highlights 

• The influential program of events was secured 
for Melbourne by Visit Victoria in conjunction 
with Tourism Australia and provided an 
invaluable opportunity to showcase Victoria’s 
outstanding culinary credentials to the world. 
Victoria was the only destination in Australia 
with restaurants awarded in the top 50, of which 
there were two. 

• Victoria hosted 97 VIPs including chefs, industry 
influencers and media from around the world to 
experience Melbourne and Victoria’s innovative 
food and drink culture and to taste some of the 
finest produce available in Australia.  

• More than 6,500 foodies and 250 media 
attended the week-long program of events. 
Approximately 1,000 members of the public 
attended a live-site screening of the awards at 
Federation Square. 

• The global publicity generated $50 million in 
advertising value and 3,295 social posts tagged 
@Melbourne and #Worlds50Best with social 
reach of at least 25 million. 

• Media coverage resulting directly from 32 
familiarisation visits continues with reports 
of increased bookings and increased 
web traffic from the local restaurant and  
hospitality industry.
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INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

Consumer Markets (Intrastate Marketing)
Re-engage Melbournians with Regional Victoria.

Domestic Markets

Domestic Markets promoted travel and spending 
in regional Victoria through marketing initiatives 
profiling the rich and diverse range of experiences. 
This was supported by commercial partnerships.

Intrastate highlights

The Wander Victoria campaign was launched 
in February 2016. The campaign was designed 
to inspire, educate and engage Victorians and 
encourage visitation to regional Victoria.

Developed in collaboration with Regional Tourism 
Boards and booking partners, Wander Victoria 
entered phase two in 2016-17 with fresh creative 
showcasing nature, accommodation, wine and 
cycling experiences. The seasonal campaign 
highlighted specific destinations and experiences. 

Activities included:

• an integrated media plan across television, 
digital, cinema and social media advertising;

• additional film production to showcase regional 
Victoria’s experiences;

• a dedicated campaign website  
(wandervictoria.com);

• partnership with booking website stayz.com; and

• opportunities for the Regional Tourism Board 
and industry to leverage and participate.

The campaign continues to achieve positive results, 
effectively reaching and engaging the target 
audience with over 24.4 million views of the brand 
films across digital channels and over 260,000  
visits to the campaign website. 

Desirability, consideration and preference  
for regional Victoria as a place to visit is also  
increasing and the campaign is positively   
impacting perceptions of regional Victoria.

24.4M 260K+
VIEWS OF THE BRAND FILMS 
ACROSS DIGITAL CHANNELS

VISITS TO THE CAMPAIGN 
WEBSITE

WANDER VICTORIA 
LEVERAGED THROUGH 

PARTNERSHIPS
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INITIATIVES AND  
ACHIEVEMENTS

Consumer Markets (Interstate Marketing) 
Create a unique value proposition for Melbourne that inspires visitation to 
become Australians leading interstate destination.

Interstate Highlights

Visit Victoria partnered with Endemol Shine Australia 
on series nine of the reality TV cooking program 
MasterChef Australia to showcase some of the State’s 
many culinary experiences and settings including 
the Murray River/Swan Hill, Murray River Salt plains, 
Brim art silos/Wimmera region of the Grampians, 
Mornington Peninsula and Melbourne.  A range of 
amplification activities supported the partnership.

In response to increased competition and 
underperformance from interstate markets, Visit 
Victoria began development of a long-term brand 
platform designed to nationally reassert Melbourne’s 
position as Australia’s number one visitor destination.  

Visit Victoria implemented an extensive consumer 
research and insights program to inform the 
development of creative concepts, which were 
approved in May 2017. 

An advertising campaign will be launched nationally 
and in New Zealand in late 2017 using a combination 
of paid (television, cinema, outdoor), owned (Visit 
Victoria consumer websites and social media 
channels) and earned media channels (public 
relations and social media) to most effectively reach 
high-value interstate consumers. The campaign 
will be supported by commercial and industry 
partnerships to attract interstate travellers here,  
more often.   

PARTNERSHIP SECURED 
WITH ENDEMOL SHINE

REGIONAL CULINARY 
EXPERIENCES SHOWCASED 

ON MASTERCHEF

NEW INTERSTATE 
MELBOURNE BRAND 

CAMPAIGN TO LAUNCH   
LATE 2017
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The Directors present their report together with the financial report of trading entity Visit Victoria 
Limited (the Company) and of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its trading subsidiary 
Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2017 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors

Director details:

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name, Qualifications and
Independence Status

Experience, special responsibilities and other directorships

Mr Paul Little AO 

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016

Appointed Chairman on 22 February 2017 

Founder and Chairman of the Little Group, former Managing Director 
of Toll Holdings and former Chairman of Essendon Football Club

Sir Rod Eddington AO

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed Chairman 7 April 2016

Resigned 13 February 2017 

Chairman, director and former chief executive of aviation, banking, 
mining, media, hospital, government advisory and other organisations

Ms Janet Whiting AM

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016

Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee

Partner of legal firm and director of tourism, education and 
community-based organisations

Mr Chris Barlow

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Chairman Northern Territory Airports, Board member Australian Rail 
Track Corporation, former Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Director of Australian Pacific Airports Australia

Mr Peter Burnett AM

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016

National President of the Australian Hotels Association (AHA), 
Victorian President of AHA. Chairman of the Australian Gaming 
Council and Chairman of the EJ Whitten Foundation

Mr Peter Crinis

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016

Chief Operating Officer for Crown Hotels and Food and Beverage. 
Board member of the Tourism Accommodation Australia and 
Melbourne Food and Wine Festival, 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
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Name, Qualifications and
Independence Status

Experience, special responsibilities and other directorships

Ms Louise Higgins

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016.  Resigned 22 November 2016

Nova Entertainment Chief Operating Officer

Ms Helen Moran

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Merlin Entertainments Group Business Development and 
Ski Field Director

Ms Sara Quon

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Group Chief Executive Officer for Beechworth Honey, former 
Marketing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Melbourne Food and 
Wine Festival

Mr Gerry Ryan OAM

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Founder and owner of Jayco, Chairman of Global Creatures

Mr Lyell Strambi

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Australia Pacific 
Airports Corporation, former Chief Executive Officer of 
Qantas Airways Domestic

Ms Wai Tang

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016

Non-Executive Director for Vicinity Centres Ltd, JB HiFi Ltd and 
Melbourne Festival Ltd, former Operations Director for Just Group and 
General Manager of Business Development for Pacific Brands

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

2. Company Secretary

Ms Barbara Cullen, was appointed to the position of Company Secretary effective 7 April 2016 and 
resigned with effect from 16 March 2017.

Mr Keith Herdman, Certified Practising Accountant, was appointed to the position of Company Secretary 
effective 13 February 2017.

3. Directors’ Meetings

Board of Directors
Meetings

Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee Meetings

Director A B A B

Mr Paul Little AO 8 8 - -

Ms Janet Whiting AM 7 8 3 3

Sir Rod Eddington AO 5 5 - -

Mr Chris Barlow 7 8 - -

Mr Peter Burnett AM 6 8 - -

Mr Peter Crinis 6 8 - -

Ms Louise Higgins 2 3 - -

Ms Helen Moran 7 8 3 3

Ms Sara Quon 8 8 1 1

Mr Gerry Ryan OAM 7 8 - -

Mr Lyell Strambi 8 8 0 1

Ms Wai Tang 5 8 - -

Committee Member
Mr Drew Robinson 

- - 1 1
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

4. Audit and Risk Committee

A documented charter is being prepared for the audit and risk committee, to be approved by the Board. 
A minimum of three members is required and they must be independent, non-executive directors. The 
Chairperson may not be the Chairperson of the Board. The committee oversees and advises on the 
development and review of a framework of internal control for management of the consolidated entity.

The external auditors, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, are invited to audit 
committee meetings at the discretion of the audit committee.

5. Risk Management

Risk Management framework is being developed to be approved by the Board for the consolidated 
entity. The framework being developed will be consistent with the Australian Risk Management 
Standard and an internal control system that will be in place to enable the executive to understand, 
manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures.  

Overview of the risk management system

The Board is overseeing the establishment and implementation of the consolidated entity’s Risk 
Management System. The Board has established and implemented the Audit and Risk Committee, with 
the role of assessing, monitoring and managing the operational, financial reporting and compliance 
risks for the consolidated entity.

Environmental regulation

The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under 
either Commonwealth or State legislation.

6. Ethical Standards

Conflict of Interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially 
conflict with those of the Company. The Board will develop procedures to assist directors to disclose 
potential conflicts of interest. 

Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a Board matter, the director 
concerned is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.

From time to time, the Directors receive invitations to events.  Such events relate to marketing launches 
or are either part of the major events calendar or may be events of a similar or potential nature. Such 
invitations are complimentary. Directors are encouraged to accept such invitations given the nature of 
the business of the Company.

7. Company Objectives, Strategies and Principal Activities

Visit Victoria Limited (the ‘Company’) is a public company limited by guarantee that is incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 28, 727 Collins Street, 
Melbourne, Victoria 3008. The consolidated financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 
2017 comprises the Company and its subsidiary (together referred to as the ‘consolidated entity’).
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

7. Company Objectives, Strategies and Principal Activities (continued)

From its inception on 7 April 2016, the Company’s role for the Government of the State of Victoria has 
been to have a unified and dedicated approach to growing Victoria’s visitor economy through tourism 
marketing and event acquisition. A cohesive, new approach has been created to market Melbourne and 
Victoria to attract more visitors and world-class events to the state and consolidate Melbourne and 
Victoria’s position as a leading global tourism and events destination.

The Company is a not-for-profit entity and primarily is involved in providing tourism services as well as 
acquiring and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy.

8. Financial Review

The consolidated entity recorded a surplus result of $7,351,626 for the year ended 30 June 2017. Surplus 
funding of $499,379 was retained for the White Night events, this amount constituted $105,744 received from 
Victorian Major Events Company and $393,635 from the Major Event Fund. Surplus revenue was received 
from Victorian Major Events Company of $535,994 from the Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road Race event.

9. Dividends

No dividend has been paid or declared since the commencement of the year and the directors do not 
recommend the declaration of a dividend.

10. State of Affairs

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity that occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in 
these financial statements.

11. Likely Developments

There are no likely developments that will influence the Company’s operations or the expected results of 
its operations.

12. Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 

Indemnification

Since its inception the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying 
against a liability any person who is or has been an Officer or Auditor of the company.

Insurance premiums

During the financial year the Company has paid insurance premiums of $2,910 in respect of directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance. These insurance premiums related to insurance of Directors and Officers 
of the Company named in this report. The insurance policies outlined do not contain detail of the 
premium paid in respect of individual Directors and Officers of the Company. The insurance premiums 
relate to:

• costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or 
criminal and whatever their outcome; and

• other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful 
breach of duty or improper use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.
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13. Member’s Guarantee

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. 
If the company is wound up the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a 
maximum amount of $10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 
2017, the total amount that the members of the company are liable to contribute if the company wound 
up is $10.

14. Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The Lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 75 and forms part of the directors’ 
report for financial year ended 30 June 2017. This report is made with a resolution of the directors.

Mr Paul Little AO     Ms Janet Whiting AM
Chairman      Director

Dated at Melbourne this 23rd day of October 2017.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

 

 corporate.visitvictoria.com.au 

16 October 2017

The Hon John Eren MP
Minister for Tourism and Major Events
Level 36, 121 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Dear Minister

VISIT VICTORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

I am pleased to submit the Visit Victoria Annual Report 2016-17. The document outlines the 
achievements of the organisation for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the expectations of Government.

Yours sincerely

Paul Little AO
Chairman
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note 2017

$

Revenue 10(a) 99,162,132

Other income 10(b) 6,942,660

Employee benefit expenses 13 (17,368,143)

Sales and marketing expenses (39,274,973)

Grant payments (37,815,098)

Administration expenses (4,415,489)

Depreciation and amortization 16, 17 (582,121)

Finance income 11 702,658

Operating profit / (loss) 7,351,626

Finance costs -

Net finance costs -

Profit / (Loss) 7,351,626

Other comprehensive income -

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: -

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss: -

Other comprehensive income, net of tax -

Total comprehensive income / (loss) 7,351,626

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 7,204,893

Non-Controlling interests 146,733

7,351,626

The notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note  30 June 2017

$

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15 10,112,713

Trade and other receivables 14 9,550,745

Other assets 371,435

Total current assets 20,034,893

Property, plant and equipment 16 3,932,525

Intangible assets 17 25,272

Other assets 16,642

Total non-current assets 3,974,439

Total assets 24,009,332

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 12,379,384

Employee benefits 12 2,574,814

Borrowings 14,258

Total current liabilities 14,968,456

Employee benefits 12 196,404

Total non-current liabilities 196,404

 Total liabilities 15,164,860

Net assets 8,844,472

Equity

Retained earnings 7,204,893

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7,204,893

Non-controlling interest 1,639,579

Total equity 8,844,472

The notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note Retained 
earnings

Non-
controlling 

interest

Total equity

$ $ $

Balance as at 1 July 2016 - - -

Total comprehensive income / (loss) 7,204,893 146,733 7,351,626

Acquisition of subsidiary with NCI 21(c) - 1,492,846 1,492,846

Balance as at 30 June 2017 7,204,893 1,639,579 8,844,472

The notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017VISIT VICTORIA 40



VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

The notes on pages 42 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note  2017

$

Cash flows from operating activites

Cash receipts from customers 107,588,477

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (93,996,707)

Interest received 11 702,658

Net GST paid to ATO (2,416,217)

Net cash from operating activities 11,878,211

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary entity (net of cash received) 21(c) 2,610,093

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 16 (4,329,921)

Acquisition of intangibles 17 (28,943)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,748,771)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of finance leases (16,727)

Net cash used in financing activities (16,727)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,112,713

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July 2016 -

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2017 10,112,713
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

1. Reporting Entity

Visit Victoria Limited (‘the Company’) is a company domiciled in Australia.

The Company is a not for profit company limited by guarantee incorporated and domiciled in Australia 
and is at and for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The Company’s registered office is at Collins Square Tower Two, Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, 
Victoria, Australia.  

The Company operates in one industry and geographic segment being primarily involved in providing 
tourism services as well as acquiring and developing business events and major events for the Victorian 
visitor economy.  The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiary 
(collectively the ‘Group’ and individually ‘Group companies’).

On 10 March 2015, Premier Andrews announced the establishment of a Visitor Economy Review to identify 
the best ways for Victoria to stay competitive and enjoy strong growth across the sector.  The Visitor 
Economy Review recommended a unified governance and institutional arrangement to maximise the 
economic benefits of Victoria’s visitor economy.  On 13 August 2015, the Victorian State Government 
announced that, in response to the Victorian Visitor Economy review, it intended to establish Visit 
Victoria to drive growth in the visitor economy.  The Company brought together the operations of the two 
government controlled entities of Tourism Victoria (V) and the Victorian Major Events Company (VMEC). 
There has been a transfer of remaining assets net of liabilities to the Company from TV and VMEC.  

Agreement was also reached with the members of Melbourne Convention Bureau (MCB) on 23 May 
2016 that the Company would be allocated 51% voting rights in Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd with 
its members retaining the remaining 49% voting rights. There was no consideration provided by the 
Company in return for this allocation of voting rights.

The Company was registered with effect from 7 April 2016 and commenced operations from 1 July 2016.  
Operations of the Company including its subsidiary were consolidated into new premises at Collins 
Square on 2 December 2016.

2. Restructuring of Administrative Arrangements

On 1 July 2016, Visit Victoria assumed responsibility of all tourism marketing and major events functions 
undertaken by Tourism Victoria and Victorian Major Events Company Ltd (transferors). Majority of all 
transferors’ personnel commenced employment with Visit Victoria on the 1 July 2016 in order to carry 
out and support those functions of the entities. The income and expenses for the tourism marketing and 
major events output has been recognised by Visit Victoria for the reporting period from 1 July 2016 to 30 
June 2017.

The net assets assumed by Visit Victoria for the tourism marketing and major events functions output 
as a result of the administrative restructure is recognised in the balance sheet at the carrying amount of 
those assets in the transferors balance sheet immediately before the transfer.

The net asset transferred from the Tourism Victoria (by way of statement of allocation) and Victorian 
Major Events Company Ltd. balance transferred as follows:
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2. Restructuring of Administrative Arrangements (continued)

Subsequently, Visit Victoria has recognised in its financial statements the remaining transfer of 
funds from Tourism Victoria of $3,474,121.40 (includes $171,121.40 for overseas based employees leave 
entitlements in the balance sheet), the remainder as income. The recognition of offshore bank account 
balance of $274,330.31 as at 30 June 2017 forms part of the funds transfer.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

2017

$

TOURISM VICTORIA

Assets

Trade Receivables 2,076,277

Liabilities

Employee benefits - Annual Leave 740,091

Employee benefits - Long Service Leave 1,336,186

Net Assets -

VMEC

Income 1,071,151

Grant income 1,071,151

Assets

Cash 1,071,151

Trade Receivables 35,269

Liabilites

Employee benefits - Annual Leave 29,321

Employee benefits - Long Service Leave 5,946

Net Assets 1,071,153
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

3. Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. They were authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 23rd October 2017. Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in 
Note 7.

4. Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. 

5. Basis of Measurement

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. 

6. Going Concern

The financial statements has been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes continuity of 
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business.

7. Significant Accounting Policies

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred 
to the Group (see (a) (ii)). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at 
fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for 
impairment (see (q) (ii)). Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

The combination was achieved through a change to the MCB constitution which allocated 51% voting 
rights to Visit Victoria without the transfer of any consideration, as outlined in note 1 above.  

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases.
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7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. 

(iv) Non-controlling interests

As outlined in Note 1, through the allocation of 51% voting rights, Visit Victoria has control of Melbourne 
Convention Bureau Ltd.  However, Visit Victoria is not entitled to any financial return from its 
involvement with Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd during its operation nor does it have any certainty 
to entitlement to any financial return at the time of the winding up of Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd.  
Non-controlling interests have been assessed at 100%.  

(b) Foreign currency

Foreign currency balances/ transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the relevant 
contract rate in effect at the date of the transaction.  Foreign monetary items at reporting date are 
translated at the exchange rate existing at reporting date.  Non-monetary assets carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency translation differences are 
recognised in ‘other economic flows’ and accumulated in a separate component of equity, in the period 
in which they arise.

(c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as 
revenue are rent of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the 
entity’s activities as described below.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Grants

Grants are recognised as income when the Company gains control of the underlying assets.  Where 
grants are reciprocal, income is recognised as Visit Victoria has satisfied its performance obligations 
under the terms of the grant. Non-reciprocal grants are recognised as income when the grant is 
received or receivable. Conditional grants may be reciprocal or non-reciprocal depending on the terms 
of the grant.  

Visit Victoria receives conditional reciprocal grants for events for which performance obligations extend 
into future financial reporting periods. Where a grant is received and the performance obligations 
have not been completed, the remaining value is treated as revenue in advance and transferred to the 
balance sheet.  

(i) Industry co-operative revenue

The amount recognised for co-operative ventures refers to funds directly received and banked by 
Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd for activities such as brochure participation and co-operative 
marketing.  Funds from co-operative venture participants which are reciprocal are recognised as 
revenue in the year when co-operative venture activities take pace. Funds received prior to  
activities having taken place are recognised as Funds Received in Advance where   
reciprocal or as revenue if not reciprocal.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Revenue (continued)

(ii)  In-kind contributions

Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd in-kind contributions that are non-reciprocal transfers to the Group 
are recognised at their fair value as both income and expenditure when received, where fair value is 
determined with reference to similar goods and services.

(iii) Membership contributions 

Membership contribution received from Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd members are recognised 
when received or due and receivable, except where received in respect of the following financial year.

(iv) Advertising and marketing revenue

Advertising and marketing revenue is recognised when received or receivable.

(v) Other income

Other income includes reimbursements from external organisations, co-operative ventures income and 
value applied to event hospitality provided to other bodies on a contra basis and miscellaneous income.

(d) Finance income and finance costs

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

• interest income;

• interest expense;

• the net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and

• interest expense on finance leases. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method which allocates the interest 
over the relevant period.

(e) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is 
provided.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available.
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7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii) Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.  That benefit 
is discounted to determine its present value.  Re-measurements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

(f) Income tax

The consolidated entity is exempt from income tax under section 24AS of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing 
costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.  

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated 
residual values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised 
in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives 
unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is 
not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

• leased plant        5 years

• leasehold improvements 3 – 7  years

• plant and equipment 3 - 12 years

• fixtures and fittings  5 - 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

(iii) Leasehold Improvements

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold properties is amortised over the unexpired period of the 
lease, or the estimated useful life of the improvement to the Company, whichever is shorter.

h) Intangible assets 

(i) Initial recognition

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  Subsequently, those intangible assets with   
finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and     
any accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

h) Intangible assets (continued)

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally 
generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or 
loss. Goodwill is not amortised.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:

• Computer software  2 – 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

(i) Financial instruments

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities.

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities issued on the date when they 
are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date 
when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control 
over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derecognised financial assets that is created or retained 
by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the   
liability simultaneously.
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7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Non-derivative financial assets – measurement

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as 
held-for-trading or is designated as such on initial recognition.  Directly attributable 
transaction costs are recognizsed in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity 
financial assets

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and 
receivables

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and 
changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on debt 
instruments (see Note [(f) (i)]), are recognised in OCI and accumulated in the fair value 
reserve. When these assets are derecognised, the gain or loss in equity is reclassified to 
profit or loss.

(iii) Non-derivative financial liabilities – measurement

A financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-for-trading 
or is designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value and changes therein, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss.

Other non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

(j) Impairment

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity-
accounted investee, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:

• default or delinquency by a debtor;

• indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.

For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or 
prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost. The Group considers a decline of 20% to be  
significant and a period of nine months to be prolonged.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(j) Impairment (continued)

Financial assets 
measured at 
amortised cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets measured at both an individual 
asset and a collective level.  All individually significant assets are individually assessed for 
specific impairment.  Those found not to be impaired are then collectively assessed for any 
impairment that has been incurred but not yet individually identified.  Assets that are not 
individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is 
carried out by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of 
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if current economic 
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than 
suggested by historical trends. 

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account. When the Group considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the 
asset, the relevant amounts are written off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying 
the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified 
is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised 
in profit or loss. If the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security 
subsequently increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss; otherwise, it is reversed through OCI.

 (ii) Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.
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7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(k) Provisions

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

(l) Leases

(i) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains  
a lease.

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Group separates 
payments and other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those 
for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease 
that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised 
at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced 
as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the liability is recognised using the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate.

(ii) Leased assets

Assets held by the Group under leases that transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance leases.  The leased asset is measured initially at an amount equal 
to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to 
that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s 
statement of financial position.  

(iii) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense 
and the reduction of the outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during 
the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of   
the liability.

(m) Goods and Services Tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of   
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable   
from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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8. Standards Issued but not yet Effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 July 2016 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted 
the following new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 

Standards
Effective for annual 

reporting periods 
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial 

year ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the 
relevant amending standards

1 January 2018 30 June 2019

AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers’ and AASB 1058 Income of Not-
For-Profit Entities

1 January 2019 30 June 2020

AASB 16 ‘Leases’ 1 January 2019 30 June 2020

The Group has not yet quantified the impact of these new standards and interpretations. The Group 
expects to disclose its transition approach and quantitative information before adoption.

9. Use of Judgements and Estimates

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognised prospectively.

Included in the Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd city wide support package expenditure commitment 
(note 24) is an accrual for the incurred amount of collateral and service delivery obligations in respect 
of secured events i.e. cash expenditure incurred in respect of city wide support package (CWSP) 
commitments. The determination of the accrual is based on an estimate using a data pattern of historical 
reimbursements by Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd relating to secured events recorded using a straight 
line method, which brings the obligation cost for events to account over the period from the date the event 
is won until the date the event is held.
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 2017

$

(a) Grant income

State government funding - Department of Economic Development, Jobs, 
Transport and Resources

91,795,374

Major Events Fund 4,922,635

Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Trust funding 1,694,123

City of Melbourne funding 500,000

Other government grants 250,000

Total grant income 99,162,132

(b) Other income

Industry co-operative revenue 1,395,378

In-kind co-operative revenue 254,457

Member revenue 1,002,319

Advertising and marketing revenue 220,600

Other income - VMEC income transfer 1,071,151

Other income - Tourism Victoria administrative restructure 1,222,000

Other income 1,776,755

Total other income 6,942,660

10. Revenue

See accounting policies in Note 7(c).
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 2017

$

Interest income on bank deposits 597,180

Net foreign exchange gain 105,478

Finance income 702,658

Interest expense on financial liabilities -

Finance costs -

Net finance income / (costs) 702,658

 2017

$

Liability for annual leave 1,080,078

Liability for long-service leave 1,494,322

Liability for superannuation -

Liability for employee bonus 194,699

Liability for other employee benefits 2,119

Total employee benefit liabilities 2,771,218

Non-current 196,404

Current 2,574,814

2,771,218

11. Net Finance Income

See accounting policies in Note 7(d).

12. Employee Benefits

See accounting policies in Note 7(e).
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 2017

$

Wages and salaries and associated costs 15,294,692

Workcover expenses 37,387

Annual leave expense 874,232

Contributions to defined contribution plans 995,864

Contributions to defined benefit plans 38,212

Termination benefits -

Long-service leave expense 127,756

17,368,143

12. Employee Benefits (continued)

The Group has paid contributions of $995,864 (note 13) to defined contribution superannuation plans on 
behalf of employees for the period ended 30 June 2017.

The Group contributes to the State Superannuation Fund (revised and new) defined benefit plan in 
Australia. The Group does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of this plan because the 
entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only 
obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and 
Finance discloses the State’s defined benefit liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However, 
superannuation contributions paid or payable for the Group employees for the reporting period are 
included as part of employee benefits in the Group statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and statement of financial position respectively. 

13. Employee Benefits Expenses

See accounting policies in Note 7(e).
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Note  2017

$

Trade receivables due from related parties 3,673,677

Other trade receivables - Tourism Victoria                                             
administrative restructure

5,276,068

Other trade receivables 232,033

Provision for impairment (82,805)

Other receivables 451,772

9,550,745

Non-current -

Current 9,550,745

 2017

$

Bank balances 10,106,096

Cash on hand 6,617

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position 10,112,713

Bank overdrafts used for cash management purposes -

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 10,112,713

14. Trade and other Receivables

See accounting policies in Note 7(i).

15. Cash and Cash Equivalents

See accounting policies in Note 7(i).
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Note Fixtures 
and 

fittings

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
equipment

Leased 
plant

 Total

$ $ $ $ $

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2016 - - - - -

Acquisitions through 
business combinations

21(c) - - 18,347 32,480 50,827

Other additions 749,565 3,017,155 563,201 - 4,329,921

Disposals - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2017 749,565 3,017,155 581,548 32,480 4,380,748

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2016 - - - - -

Depreciation 61,814 249,412 120,734 16,263 448,223

Disposals - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2017 61,814 249,412 120,734 16,263 448,223

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2016 - - - - -

At 30 June 2017 687,751 2,767,743 460,814 16,217 3,932,525

16. Property, Plant and Equipment

See accounting policies in Note 7(g).

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
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Note Computer 
Software

 2017

$ $

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2016 - -

Acquisitions through business combinations 21(c) 130,227 130,227

Other acquisitions - internally developed 28,943 28,943

Balance at 30 June 2017 159,170 159,170

Accumulated amortisation and                                  
impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2016 - -

Amortisation 133,898 133,898

Balance at 30 June 2017 133,898 133,898

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2016 - -

At 30 June 2017 25,272 25,272

17. Intangible Assets

See accounting policies in Note 7(h).

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017VISIT VICTORIA 58



VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

 2017

$

Trade payables due to related parties 207,443

Other trade payables 5,268,614

Accrued expenses 650,522

Trade payables 6,126,579

Income in advance 5,012,811

City Wide Support Package expenditure commitment 288,247

Other payables 951,747

Other payables 6,252,805

12,379,384

Non-current -

Current 12,379,384

12,379,384

18. Trade and other Payables

See accounting policies in Note 7(i).

Information about the Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk is included in Note 20.

19. List of Subsidiaries

See accounting policy in Note 7(a)(ii).

Set out below is a list of material subsidiaries of the Group.

Name Principle place of 
business

Voting interest

2017

Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited Australia 51%
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20. Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values

The financial instruments held by the consolidated entity at the reporting date were non-derivative 
financial assets (trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents) and non-derivative financial 
liabilities (trade and other payables); for all of these financial instruments, carrying amount is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value because of their short term maturity and the expectation that 
they will be paid in full.

(b) Measurement of fair values

Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

No financial instruments are held at fair value, however, should items be held at fair value in the future 
the group’s policy for determining the fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities is as follows: 

• The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions are 
traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models on discounted cash flow analysis.

30 June 2017 Note Carrying 
amount

$

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Trade and other receivables 14 9,550,745

Cash and cash equivalents 15 10,112,713

19,663,458

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Trade and other payables 18 12,379,384

12,379,384
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20. Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

c) Financial risk management 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

• credit risk (see (c)(ii))

• liquidity risk (see (c)(iii))

• market risk (see (c)(iv))

(i) Risk Management framework

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, 
aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations.

The consolidated entity has an Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee overseas 
the internal and external audit functions, monitoring the consolidated entity’s internal control and 
compliance framework. The Audit and Risk Committee also monitors compliance with the consolidated 
entity’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to risks faced by the consolidated entity.

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables 
from customers.  

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents, including other assets, of $10,112,713 at 30 June 2017, which 
represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with 
financial institution counterparties with strong credit ratings.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor. 
The group does not operate as a ‘trading’ company and trade receivables relate to sundry receivables 
from a small number of counterparties.  As at 30 June 2017, there is no allowance for impairment.

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
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PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED

30 June 2017 Carrying 
amount

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired

Less than 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months 
- 1 year

Past due and 
impaired 3 

months - 1 year

$ $ $ $ $ $

Trade and other 
receivables

9,550,745 9,383,548 27,673 12,854 44,694 81,977

9,550,745 9,383,548 27,673 12,854 44,694 81,977

                                  PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED

30 June 2017 Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

0-1 year 1-2 
years

2-5 years More than 5 
years

$ $ $ $ $ $

Trade and other 
payables

6,770,667 6,770,667 6,770,667 - - -

Income in advance 5,012,811 5,012,811 2,746,246 1,155,085 1,111,480 -

City Wide Support 
commitment

288,247 288,247 132,962 64,090 70,627 20,568 

12,071,725 12,071,725 9,649,875 1,219,175 1,182,107 20,568

20. Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. Typically the group ensures that it has 
sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial 
obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably   
be predicted.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The 
amounts are gross and undiscounted.
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20. Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

(iv) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates – will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in 
which transactions are denominated and the respective functional currency of Group companies.  The 
functional currency of Group companies is the Australian dollar (AUD).  The currencies in which these 
transactions are primarily denominated are New Zealand dollar (NZD), US dollar (USD), Euro (EUR), 
Pound sterling (GBP), Singapore dollar (SGD) Japanese yen (JPY) and Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CYR).

Exposure to currency risk

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the 
management of the Group is as follows.

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the AUD, NZD, USD, EUR, GBP, SGD, JPY or CNY 
against all other currencies at 30 June would have affected the measurement of financial instruments 
denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. 
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores 
any impact of forecast sales and purchases.

30 JUNE 2017

NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY CNY

Cash and cash equivalents 60,420 203,235 122,275 125,446 122,923 83,358 1,987

Trade receivables - - - - - - -

Financial assets 60,420 203,235 122,275 125,446 122,923 83,358 1,987

Trade payables - - - - - - -

Financial liabilities - - - - - - -

Net exposure 60,420 203,235 122,275 125,446 122,923 83,358 1,987
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20. Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Interest rate risk

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the 
management of the Group is as follows.

Profit or loss Equity, net of tax

10% increase decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

30 June 2017

NZD 6,042 (6,042) 6,042 (6,042)

USD 20,324 (20,324) 20,324 (20,324)

EUR 12,228 (12,228) 12,228 (12,228)

GBP 12,545 (12,545) 12,545 (12,545)

SGD 12,292 (12,292) 12,292 (12,292)

JPY 8,836 (8,836) 8,836 (8,836)

CNY 199 (199) 199 (199)

Nominal amount

2017 

$

Fixed-rate instruments

Financial assets (weighted average interest rate = 1.53%) 3,063,364

Financial liabilities -

3,063,364

Variable-rate instruments

Financial assets (weighted average interest rate = 1.50%) 6,271,035

Financial liabilities -

6,271,035
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20. Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss or equity.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments.

For each change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased 
or (decreased) the Group’s equity and profit or loss by $62,710. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

21. Acquisition of Subsidiary and Business Combination

See accounting policy in Note 7 (a)(i).

Effective from the 1 July 2016, Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited operated as a subsidiary of Visit 
Victoria Limited. 

In the 12 months to 30 June 2017, Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited contributed revenue of $9,161,379 
and profit of $146,733 to the Group’s results.  

(a) Consideration transferred

No consideration was transferred in order to acquire the shares or assets of the combined entities.  Visit 
Victoria acquired 51% voting right in Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd effective 23 May 2016.

(b) Acquisition-related costs

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of $196,000 on legal fees, professional communications 
advice and costs of staging the extraordinary general meeting. These costs have been included in 
‘administrative expenses’.

(c) Identifiable assets required and liabilities assumed

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
the acquisition date. 

Note $

Cash and cash equivalents 2,610,093

Trade and other receivables 1,059,922

Property, plant and equipment 50,827

Intangible assets 130,227

Trade and other payables (1,567,622)

Borrowings (30,985)

Employee benefits (631,116)

Provisions (128,500)

Total idenitifiable net assets acquired 1,492,846
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21. Acquisition of Subsidiary and Business Combination (continued)

(c) Identifiable assets required and liabilities assumed (continued)

(i) Measurement of fair values

The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as follows.

Assets acquired Valuation technique

Property, plant 
and equipment

Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model considers 
quoted market prices for similar items when available, and depreciated replacement 
cost when appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for 
physical deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence.

Intangible assets Relief-from-royalty method and multi-period excess earnings method: The relief-
from-royalty method considers the discounted estimated royalty payments that are 
expected to be avoided as a result of the patents or trademarks being owned. The 
multi-period excess earnings method considers the present value of net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the customer relationships, by excluding any cash flows 
related to contributory assets.

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of $271,000, of which $82,805 was 
expected to be uncollectible at the acquisition date

(d) Goodwill 

No goodwill was recognised on the business combination.  There was no transfer of ownership. It was 
an allocation of voting rights to Visit Victoria by Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd without any form             
of consideration.

22. Operating Leases

See accounting policy in Note 7(l).

Leases as lessee

The Group leases office space under non-cancellable operating leases. The lease period is for 7 years, 
with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated every 7 years to 
reflect market rentals. During the year $659,070 was recognised as an expense in profit or loss in respect 
of operating leases. 

(i) Future minimum lease payments

At 30 June, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were payable as follows.
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22. Operating Leases (continued)

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2017

$

Less than one year 1,730,888

Between one and five years 7,597,434

More than five years 2,960,914

12,289,236

2017

$

Lease expense 988,070

Lease incentive (329,000)

659,070

23. Commitments

(a) Grant commitments payable

Commitments for the payment of grants under contacts in existence at the reporting at the reporting 
date but not recognised as liabilities and payable are: 

2017

$

Less than one year 14,524,500

Between one and five years 4,885,000

More than five years -

19,409,500
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(b) Other commitments

Commitments for the payment of other expenditure under contract in existence at the reporting date 
but not recognised as liabilities and payable are:

(c) Expenditure commitments

Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd has commitments for collateral and services delivery for one-
hundred-one events taking place in the next eight years payable as follows:

2017

$

Less than one year 812,456

Between one and five years 505,000

More than five years -

1,317,456

2017

$

Less than one year 305,178

Between one and five years 653,218

More than five years 346,123

1,304,519

23. Commitments (continued)

These commitments for support of events have been made by the Group as part of proposals to 
secure the events are contingent on the bid for the event being won.  These do not include any funding 
commitments made directly by the State Government to support major business events. 
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24. Related Parties

Visit Victoria is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the Department of Economic Development, Jobs, 
Transport and Resources (DEDJTR). Related parties of Visit Victoria include:

• all key management personnel and their close family members;

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of 
state consolidated financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Significant transactions with government related entities

Visit Victoria received funding and made payments (GST inclusive) to DEDJTR of $104,306,066 and 
$50,000 respectively. 

During the reporting period, the department had the following government related entity transactions:

Transactions with key management personnel

(i) Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel compensation comprised the following. 

Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel includes salaries     
and non-cash benefits.

2017

$

DEDJTR - State Goverment Funding 104,306,066

DEDJTR - Contributions Chinese New Year 2017 (50,000)

104,256,066

2017

$

Short-term employee benefits 1,911,827

Post-employment benefits 77,278

Other long term benefits 112,113

2,101,218
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24. Related Parties (continued)

(ii) Key management personnel and director transactions

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that 
result in them having control or significant influence over these companies.

A number of these companies transacted with the Group during the period.  The terms and conditions 
of these transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably 
be expected to be available, in similar transactions with non-key management personnel related 
companies on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel 
and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.

(i)  The Group has paid event funding of $2,519,000 in the period.

(ii)  The Group has received participation fees for the CEGORR of $34,877 in the period.

(iii) The Group has received marketing funding of $275,000 in the period.

25. Subsequent Events

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the 
Group, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Group, in future financial years.

Related parties     
(Key management 
personnel)

Note Transaction 
values for the year 

ended 30 June

Balance 
outstanding as at 

30 June

2017 2017

Mr Peter Crinis 
Director, Melbourne 
Food & Wine Festival

(i) 2,519,000 -

Mr Gerry Ryan OAM
Director, GTR Events 
Pty Ltd

(ii) 34,877 34,877

Ms Janet Whiting AM
Trustee, National 
Gallery of Victoria 
(NGV)

(iii) 275,000 275,000
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

26. Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Note 2017

$

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit / (loss) 7,351,626

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 448,223

Amortisation 133,898

7,933,747

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (8,490,823)

(Increase) / decrease in prepayments and other assets (388,077)

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 10,811,762

Increase / (decrease) in employee benefits 2,011,602

Net cash from operating activities 11,878,211
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

27. Auditors’ Remuneration

Note 2017

$

Audit and review services

Auditors of the Company - Victorian Auditor - General’s Office

Audit and review of financial statements 70,000

70,000

Auditors of the subsidiary - KPMG

Audit and review of financial statements 35,395

35,395

Other Services

Other auditors - KPMG

In relation to assurance services for the subsidiary 12,195

In relation to preparation of FBT return for the subsidiary 3,500

In relation to preparation of FBT return for the Company 3,500

There were no other services provided by the auditor of Visit Victoria Limited during the financial period.
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (CONTINUED)

28. Parent Entity Disclosures

As at, and throughout, the financial period ending 30 June 2017 the parent entity of the Group was Visit 
Victoria Limited.

Note 2017

$

Result of parent entity

Profit / (loss) for the year 7,204,897

Other comprehensive income -

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,204,897

Financial position of the parent entity at year end

Current assets 16,185,031

Total assets 20,118,068

Current liabilities 12,765,422

Total liabilities 12,913,172

Total equity of parent entity comprising of:

Retained earnings 7,204,897

Total equity 7,204,897

(a) Parent entity contingent liabilities

The parent entity has no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2017.

(b) Parent entity capital commitments for acquisition of property plant and equipment

The parent entity has no capital commitments as at 30 June 2017.
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DIRECTORS’
DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Visit Victoria Limited (‘the Company’), I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited (the Company):

(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 8 to 35, are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the consolidated entity as 
at 30 June 2017 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable.

Dated at Melbourne this 23rd day of October 2017.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors on behalf of the Board.

Mr Paul Little AO     Ms Janet Whiting AM
Chairman      Director

 

 corporate.visitvictoria.com.au 

16 October 2017

The Hon John Eren MP
Minister for Tourism and Major Events
Level 36, 121 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Dear Minister

VISIT VICTORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

I am pleased to submit the Visit Victoria Annual Report 2016-17. The document outlines the 
achievements of the organisation for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the expectations of Government.

Yours sincerely

Paul Little AO
Chairman
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Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited and its controlled entities for the period ended 30 June 2017, I declare 
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

 no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
25 October 2017 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Visit Victoria Limited (the company) and its 
controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

 consolidated entity and company statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 
 consolidated entity and company statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income for the period then ended 
 consolidated entity and company statement of changes in equity for the period then ended 
 consolidated entity and company statement of cash flows for the period then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
 directors' declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including: 

 giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and the consolidated 
entity as at 30 June 2017 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the period 
then ended 

 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of 
the company and the consolidated entity in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My staff and I have 
also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. 

Directors' 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial report  

The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of a financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the company and the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate 
to do so. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 
(continued) 

Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company and the consolidated entity’s internal 
control 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors  

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company and 
the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 
opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company and the 
consolidated entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities and business activities within the company and the consolidated entity to express 
an opinion on the financial report. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of the company and the consolidated entity. I remain solely 
responsible for my audit opinion. 

I communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during my audit. 
I also provide the Directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

 
 

    
MELBOURNE 
25 October 2017 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Visit Victoria – Head Office
Collins Square, Tower Two 
Level 28, 727 Collins Street 
Melbourne, Victoria, 3008 
Australia 
Ph + 61 3 9002 2222

Visit Victoria – United Kingdom  
6th Floor Australia Centre 
Melbourne Place, Strand
London WC2B4LG
United Kingdom
Ph + 44 207 438 4645

Visit Victoria – Continental Europe 
(Frankfurt)
Neue Mainzer Str 22
60311 Frankfurt 
Germany
Ph+ 49 2740 0677

Visit Victoria – Greater China (Shanghai)
Victoria Trade and Investment Office 
Suite 620 Shanghai Centre  
1376 Nanjing Road West 
Shanghai 200040 
P.R.C
Ph + 86 21 6279 8681

Visit Victoria – Northern China (Beijing)
Level 23, China World Tower B  
No 1 Jianguomenwai Avenue  
Chaoyang District
Beijing, China
Ph + 86-10-8509 8568

Visit Victoria – Southern China, Hong 
Kong and Taiwan (Guangzhou)
Unit 702-2, Level 7, Tower 1
Taikoo Hui 385 Tianhe Road
Tianhe District
Guangzhou 510000
P.R.C 
T: +86 20 2886 1516

Visit Victoria – Japan and Korea
Marunouchi Trust Tower North 12 F
1-8-1 Marunouchi Chiyoda-Ku
Tokyo 100-0005 
Japan 
Ph + 81 3 5218 2577

Visit Victoria – The Americas
Mailbox #358 2029 
Century Park East, Suite 3150
Los Angeles CA 900067
United States of America 
Ph + 1 310 695 3245

Visit Victoria – South and South East Asia      
101 Thompson Road 
#08/01 United Square 
Singapore 307591
Ph + 65 6255 6888

Visit Victoria – New Zealand
Level 3, 125 The Strand 
Parnell, Auckland 
New Zealand 
Ph+ 64 9 379 0425
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